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The purpose of this first addendum is to provide an overview of the Pre-Proposal Conference, 
document amendments to the Request for Proposals {RFP} and answer questions submitted by 
attendees both written and verbal as follows: 
 
The Pre-Proposal Conference was held as scheduled with several companies in attendance.  As 
requested the Attendance Roster is attached hereto.  An overview of the procurement process was 
provided by purchasing and a brief overview of the advertising component of transit was presented 
followed by questions and discussions. 
 
Since this was not a mandatory pre-proposal conference, the City will receive sealed proposals for 
this project from all interested vendors, including those in attendance. All questions will be answered 
and sent directly to those in attendance and posted to the City of Albuquerque Purchasing Website. 
 
Amendments to the Request for Proposals {RFP} 
 
1.  As requested, the Proposal Due Date is changed to 22 November 2006 – 4:00 P.M. 
{MST}  
Amend Part 1, “Instructions to Offerors” Paragraph 1.2, “Proposal Due Date” to read: 

 
1.2 Proposal Due Date: 22 November 2006 – 4:00 P.M. {MST} 
     The time and date Proposals are due shall be strictly observed 
 

2.  Page iii, “Introduction”:  Delete Paragraph 5 in its entirety and replace with the 
following language: 
 
 ABQ RIDE is committed to implementing a shelter construction and advertising 

program, similar to what was recently agreed to with “Sam Trans”{a transit provider 
for San Mateo County, California}.The contractor {CBS Outdoors} has agreed to 
construct transit shelters in exchange for advertising space on the structure.    

 
3. Part 2, “Proposal Format”, Page 10, Paragraph 2.3.4:  Add Sub Paragraph 2.3.4.6 as 

follows: 
 

2.3.4.6 Construction of Bus Shelters.  Description of how Offeror will provide  
a transit shelter construction and advertising program.. 
 

4. Part 3, “Scope of Services”, Page 15:  Add Paragraph 3.14 as follows: 
 

3.14 Construction of Bus Shelters.  
 

3.14.1 Describe proposed transit shelter construction and advertising  
program. 

 
Correct Typos 
 
Page 29, Paragraph 2. A.  Correct the dollar amount to read:  One Hundred Forty-Four 
Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (144,000.00). 
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1.  QUESTIONS/ANSWERS 
 
 
 



 1.  How many shelters does the City currently have? 
- Citywide ABQ RIDE has under 100 shelters and more than 2800 bus stops.   
- ABQ RIDE would like to add more shelters at bus stops for our passengers and 

potential advertisers. 
- The potential contractor must have a valid New Mexico GB 98 Contractor’s 

License.  The potential contractor can subcontract this work, but both parties must 
have a current, valid contractor’s license.   

- The shelter portion of the RFP is not mandatory.  However it is included as part of 
the points system for evaluation of submissions.  So without it, the proposal score 
will be lower. 

 
2.  How many shelters is ABQ RIDE looking for the vendor to build? 

There is not a set number of shelters required for the RFP.  However, the more 
shelters there are, the more advertising space is available to you as a contractor.   

 
3. Are there limitations or sign ordinances? 

Please see attached Albuquerque Code of Ordinances Paragraph 14-16-3-5, 
General Sign Regulations.  And also see Section 5-1-3, Duties of the Mayor. 
  

 
4. Would the City prohibit construction of shelters or signage – restrictions? 

Please see attached Albuquerque Code of Ordinance Paragraph 14-16-3-5, 
General Sign Regulations. 

 
5.  Are shelters a requirement of the contract? 

The shelter portion of the RFP is not mandatory.  However, it is included as part 
of the points system for evaluation of submissions.  So without it, the score will 
be lower.  Construction of shelters will weigh 150 points in the evaluation 
process.  See revised proposal format and Scope of Services as revised in this 
addendum #1.  

 
6. Will shelters weigh 150 points or 300 points in the evaluation? 

Construction of shelters will weigh 150 points.  This is not mandatory, but 
without a shelter component, the proposal score will be lower.  Remember that 
the potential contractor must hold a New Mexico GB 98 Contractor’s License. 

 
7. There is a discrepancy in the dollar value on p. 11  –Form 5, p. 29 Section A.   
 The correct value should read $144,000. 
 
8.  Are the 100, 200 & 300 series models all 40 ft. long? Can we get a break down of 
the make, model and year of vehicles? 
 100 series 1989 GMC RTS2, 40 feet long 
 200 series 1989 GMC RTS 2, 35 feet long 
 300 series 1996 Neoplan NF440, 40 feet long 
 400 series 2001 Thomas Built SLF232, 32 feet long 
 6400 (Rapid) 2004 New Flyer 972, 60 feet long 



 
 
9.  Can we get current figures related to advertising revenue? 

ABQ RIDE has only been managing the advertising program in-house since July.  
Since that time, ABQ RIDE has averaged revenue of $34,000. This just includes 
advertising space with appropriate discounts for number of boards and length of 
contract. Production is not included in these figures. 

 
10. Can we get a payment history to the City revenue? What is going directly to the 
City? 
 February 25 – March 24, 2006 = $8,983.13 City’s portion at 50% of net revenues 
 April 25 – May 24, 2006 = $16,318.22 City’s portion at 50% of net revenues 

October 2006 = $34,256.88 Billed revenues at 100% (City took over advertising) 
 
11. The 75% occupancy mandate, why is that relevant if we’re satisfying the dollar 
amount of the contract?  Would we be allowed to fill those empty spaces with our 
choice of advertising? 
 

The idea is to generate more than $144,000 a year.  That number is just a 
minimum annual guarantee for the first year.  While some months may be slower 
than others, if you calculate the $34,000 per month that ABQ RIDE has brought 
in, this would bring more than $400,000 per year.  ABQ RIDE has been basing 
their numbers mostly on busboards and only about 4 to 6 partial wraps.  As a 
potential contractor, the opportunity for unlimited bus wraps and vinyl advertising 
will increase revenues.       

 
12. What is graffiti free? 
 The mayor has a graffiti free policy. 
 
13.  Realistic time frame to clean-up graffiti, will the transit department assist with 
this process? 

The offeror should tell Transit how this program will be implemented to create a 
graffiti free environment in the proposal response.   

 
14.  How is the total calculated? 

The potential contractor can propose a minimum annual guarantee above the 
$144,000 for the first year.  The potential contractor can generate higher revenues 
with a 50% revenue sharing to the City of Albuquerque.  This will be based on 
monthly reports submitted to transit.  Refer to the agreement sections 6 and 7.  

 
15.  For the transit occupancy portion, how is that reported? 

Currently ABQ RIDE has 141 buses available for advertising.  This number may 
fluctuate slightly over the upcoming years.  As stated in the agreement, ABQ 
RIDE has the opportunity to advertise transit services and trade on 25% of the 
fleet.  So at this time, ABQ RIDE can advertise on approximately 35 buses.  As 



new shelters are constructed and new buses are ordered this number may change.  
The 75% occupancy should not include the 25% of reserved ABQ RIDE space.  

 
 
16.  Who owns the shelters if the contract is terminated? 

Effective either upon installation of the improvement or upon the expiration of the 
contact, the City shall be the owner of the improvement and shall be entitled to 
receive a bill of sale to the improvement.   
 
In the event the contract is terminated, please reference Page 12, Section 9, Part 6 
of the proposed Concession Agreement.     

 
17.  Production costs are an additional revenue stream, are you looking to have 
percentage of revenue based on space only or production as well?  If we have gross 
revenue and part of that comes from production does that matter?  Typically net 
space sales.   

The revenue stream will be determined on space only.  The vendor has the 
opportunity to make additional revenue by offering production services.  
However, the advertiser must be notified that they have the option to go to any 
production company as long as they meet the requirements provided by ABQ 
RIDE.  ABQ RIDE is requiring a minimum of $144,000 for the first year or 50% 
of gross revenues of space if above that. 

 
18.  Will it be necessary to obtain zoning and other approvals at existing and right of 
way bus stops?   

There may be some bus stops in the City that don’t have adequate space or right 
of way for the construction of a bus shelter.  The potential contractor may need  to 
work with the City Planning Department or the Department of Municipal 
Development.   
 
Please see attached Albuquerque Code of Ordinances- General Sign Regulations.  
And also see Duties of the Mayor. 

 
19.  Will you provide a written response to all questions? 

ABQ RIDE will provide a written response to questions received during the 
allotted time frame. 

 
20.  It sounds like there needs to be a standard for offering discounts for advertising 
dependant on length of time or number of ads purchased, etc. 
 This needs to be submitted by the vendor to Transit for approval. 
 
21.  Can there be some built in flexibility, can the potential vendor deviate up to a 
set limit up to 15% in the event of a downturn in the economy or an unforeseen 
event like 9/11? 



It is important that ABQ RIDE and the potential vendor have frequent 
communications when they feel this may occur.  In rare circumstances (such as an 
unforeseen event like 9/11), there may be exceptions allowed to the rule. 

 
22.   Our customers want to know where they’re going to be in terms of geographic 
locations in the City.  Companies want to know where their ads are going to be 
running.  Do the buses run on a set route. 

Realistically, ABQ RIDE cannot determine that right now, but hope to be moving 
in that direction in the future. 

 
23.  How many bus garages are there here? 

ABQ RIDE has two bus garages.  The east side garage is located on Yale Blvd.  
The 300 and 400 series buses pull out of this facility.  The west side garage is on 
Daytona, near Unser and I-40.  The 100 and 200 series buses pull out of this 
facility as well as the Rapid Ride fleet. 

 
24.  Is it safe to assume that they cater to those specific areas? 

Not at this point.  ABQ RIDE hopes to move in that direction sometime in the 
future.  But for now, each bus that pulls out of the garage could be on any route in 
the city.  The only fixed route system is the Rapid Ride fleet along Central 
Avenue and to Uptown. 

 
25.  Will the City consider advertisers such as Casino, Lottery, Gambling? 

ABQ RIDE will consider advertising from casino’s, lottery and gambling.  The 
potential contractor must seek prior transit approval before working into an 
agreement with one of these businesses.  The potential contractor must follow 
appropriate City ordinances attached. 

 
26.  Will there be advertising opportunities on the existing Rapid Ride shelters? 

Part of that is contingent on the fact that ABQ RIDE already has relationships and 
partnerships with businesses.  Currently, ABQ RIDE has entered into a five-year 
contract with 11 businesses on 11 separate Rapid Ride shelters.  Those businesses 
pay $5,000 each year for 5 years.  That money will continue to come directly to 
Transit at 100%.  The potential vendor will have the opportunity to seek 
sponsorship for unused Rapid Ride shelters for the same amount.  ABQ RIDE 
will then take in 50% of the revenue.  

 
27.  Can we get examples of media trade that you already provide? 

It varies.  This year, ABQ RIDE traded $18,000 of advertising space for radio 
time with American General Media.  This includes 17 Kings that will expire on 
January 14 and 7 Mini Tails that will expire on January 7.   

 
28.  If we wanted to offer a wrap for an entire year could we do that? 

The potential contractor can certainly offer a wrap for an entire year.  The length 
of the contract will be determined by the potential ABQ RIDE advertising 
contractor and the potential advertiser.    



 
29.  Installation and Removal – Could this be modified to 10 days, especially when 
considering bus wraps? 

ABQ RIDE will be willing to work with the potential contractor in certain 
circumstances to extend the amount of take/down time.  ABQ RIDE must be 
notified of a delay. 

 
30.  Do you allow full window coverage? 

ABQ RIDE provided full window coverage on the full D-RIDE bus wrap, but 
now would prefer partial window coverage instead of full coverage.  The potential 
contractor just needs to work with ABQ RIDE prior to the first bus wrap for 
approval on window coverage. 

 
31.  Instead of the five days, usually it’s at least 7 – 14 days, for outdated copy.  Will 
you address the issue with outdated copy vs. outdated event? 

ABQ RIDE wants an ad for an outdated event removed within 5 business days.  
ABQ RIDE will extend the time frame for other non-dated material to be removed 
within 7-14 days.   

 
32.  Installation time is required to be overnight, could you allow some day time 
hours especially on the weekends? 

Most of the ABQ RIDE buses are in the garage during the overnight hours, so that 
will be the best time to reach as many vehicles at once.  However, there may be 
times during the day and over the weekends when the potential contractor might 
be able to get some work done.  The potential contractor can certainly do installs 
and removals during any time of the day or night, but keep in mind that a 
promised install date must be met to a potential advertiser. Installations and 
removals cannot disrupt bus service in any way.  The potential contractor will 
have a dedicated bay for installations. 

 
33.  Does the previous vendor own the bus boards or does the Transit Department 
own these? 

ABQ RIDE currently owns the existing busboards.  ABQ RIDE is moving to 
mainly vinyl advertising.  Busboard frames will not be placed on the new bus 
order expected to arrive next year. 

 
34.  Would you consider leaving the frames on some of the older buses that will be 
replaced?  There may be some interest in these still. 

ABQ RIDE will be ordering approximately 35 new buses to replace about 35 of 
the 100 and 200 series buses.  This will leave approximately 20, 100 or 200 series 
buses in the fleet.  ABQ RIDE will consider leaving the frames on those 20 buses, 
but all other vehicles will have just vinyl advertising. 

 
35.  Will it be permissible to propose a smaller amount for the first year?  
Determined on history? 



No.  ABQ RIDE has been generating approximately $34,000 per month since 
July.  This is mainly on existing busboards.  With the option to advertise on 35 of 
the 400 series buses that do not have much advertising now, there should not be a 
problem with generating the Minimum Annual Guarantee, especially when 
combined with shelter advertising opportunities.   

 
36. Do you have any idea what projected revenue will be for January and February? 

ABQ RIDE is in the process of securing ads for these dates and renewing some 
contracts.  At this time, projected revenue for January is about $4,000, but ABQ 
RIDE has several pending contracts. 

 
 
37.  Will ABQ RIDE remove the existing frames from the buses? 

ABQ RIDE will remove the frames from the existing buses, unless otherwise 
proposed in your response. 
 

38.  Projected Gross Revenues- Why are agency commissions included in this?   
  

ABQ RIDE will consider gross sales projections without agency commissions if it is 
already configured in the net billing. 

 
39.  Is it typical for us also to give you a copy of the contract within 5 days of the 
contract?  Can we turn in the contract on a monthly basis?  I think it would make 
sense for everything to come in together. 

Yes, the potential contractor can turn in all of the contracts and revenues into 
ABQ RIDE on a monthly basis.  ABQ RIDE will allow up to 15 days into the 
following month to receive this information. 

 
40.  On-board advertising, how far along is the Transit Department?  

This is a component that is included in ABQ RIDE’s Request for Bids for new 
buses.  ABQ RIDE hopes to incorporate this type of on-board advertising.  At this 
point, ABQ RIDE does not know how many on-board television screens there 
will be. ABQ RIDE does have the ability for advertising using the enunciators on 
certain bus routes, but has not determined how this can be used.  The potential 
contractor can provide this as part of the proposal.   

 
41.  Is the Minimum Annual Guarantee after the first year based on what was 
actually paid to the City in overall gross in the previous year?  

Yes.  Commencing at the end of the calendar year, the MAG shall be adjusted for 
the next year to a sum of money representing 85% of the gross revenues fee 
payable for the preceding agreement year in accordance with section 7.2; 
provided, however, that in no event shall the MAG for any year be less than the 
MAG for the initial calendar year of the agreement. 

 
42.  Would this potentially include Modern Streetcar? 
 That has yet to be determined. 



 
43.  Contractor Bond and Insurance.  Does this mean we need to be sure that 
subcontractors are compliant?  

If the potential contractor sub-contracts any work, it is the contractor’s  
responsibility to ensure that the subcontractor has proper insurance coverage.  
Please see page 11, Sec. 8.3.3. 

 
44.  Why is this now called a concession and not a contract? 

This is modeled after a revenue generating agreement at the airport, so the same 
language was used. 

 
The following are answers to the written questions provided by Templeton Marketing 
Services.   
 
45.  Some questions concerning the shelter requirement of the RFP: 
  

A. How will the locations for the shelters be determined? 
-The potential contractor will need to submit a written request to the City of 
Albuquerque for shelter location prior to construction.   
 
B. How will the needed zoning and other approvals be obtained? 
-The potential contractor will need to follow city ordinances and neighborhood 
covenants prior to shelter construction.  The potential contractor may need to 
work with the City of Albuquerque Planning Department or the Department of 
Municipal Development.  Please see attached Albuquerque Code of Ordinances 
Paragraph 14-16-3-5, General Sign Regulations.  And also see Section 5-1-3, 
Duties of the Mayor. 

 
C. Will it be necessary to obtain zoning and other approvals if electric utilities 

are not used and if shelters are located at existing bus stops? 
-Not if all of the requirements are met in the attached Albuquerque Code of 
Ordinances Paragraph 14-16-3-5, General Sign Regulations and Section 5-1-3, 
Duties of the Mayor. 

 
D. Who will own the shelters when the contract is terminated? 
- Effective either upon installation of the improvement or upon the expiration of 
the contact, the City shall be the owner of the improvement and shall be entitled 
to receive a bill of sale to the improvement.   
 
In the event the contract is terminated, please reference Page 12, Section 9, Part 6 
of the proposed Concession Agreement.     

 
E. Page iii says, “This RFP will grant additional points to a proposal for 

providing a shelter construction / advertising component.”  Is a shelter 
proposal required or optional? 



- The shelter portion of the RFP is not mandatory.  However, it is included as part 
of the points system for evaluation of submissions.  So without it, the score will 
be lower.  The shelter component will weigh 150 points in the evaluation process.  
There will not be additional points given for shelter construction on top of the 150 
evaluation points.  See revised proposal format and Scope of Services as revised 
in this addendum #1.  
 
F. Re:  Design of Shelter, are there any parameters, guidelines or restrictions 

from City Zoning regarding the design of the shelter, ie height restrictions 
and other possible limitations that offeror should know about prior to 
submitting a shelter design?  

- Please see the attatched Albuquerque Code of Ordinances - General Sign 
Regulations and the Duties of the Mayor. 

 
46.  The RFP states that the contract may be terminated if the contractor fails to sell 
75% of inventory each month.  Is there any provision for easing this requirement during 
difficult times for the advertising business, such occurred following the 9/11 attack, and 
during annual seasonal slow downs?   Since there is already a MAG, will the City 
consider removing this requirement? 

It is important that ABQ RIDE and the potential vendor have frequent 
communications when they feel this may occur.  In rare circumstances (such as an 
unforeseen event like 9/11), there may be exceptions allowed to the rule. 

 
47.  Does section 4.3.1 of the contract mean that the contractor may not offer special 
incentive pricing if needed to maximize revenue? 

It is essential that the potential contractor be fair about pricing from one business to the 
next.  The potential contractor needs to have a set discounted rate for number panels 
and time period.  In the event the contractor deviates from the set pricing, the ABQ 
RIDE Director needs to give approval. 

 
48.  The RFP requires a minimum annual guarantee of $144,000, which might be 
difficult to meet the first year of a start-up program.  Would it be permissible to propose 
a smaller amount for the first year? 

No.  ABQ RIDE has been generating approximately $34,000 per month since July.  
This is mainly on existing busboards.  With the option to advertise on 35 of the 400 
series buses that do not have much advertising now, there should not be a problem 
with generating the Minimum Annual Guarantee, especially when combined with 
shelter advertising opportunities.   

  
49.  What is the current inventory of buses that will be available?  Are there newer buses 
coming, and if so, what type, how many, and which buses will be removed from service? 

ABQ RIDE currently has 141 buses available for advertising.  An additional 6 new 
Rapid Ride buses will arrive in January, bringing the total number of buses up to 147.  
ABQ RIDE has Request for Bids (RFB) out right now and plans to receive 
approximately 35 new 40-foot buses that will replace approximately 35 of the 100 and 



200 series buses that date back to 1989.  Since the bid has not yet been awarded, ABQ 
RIDE does not know what the make and model of the new buses will be.   
 
100 & 200 series buses  54 buses 
300 series buses  39 buses 
400 series buses  35 buses 
Rapid Ride (60’ articulated) 12 buses (6 more in January) 
Trolley    1  

 
50.  Will the Rapid Ride buses be available for displaying advertising, and if so, just the 
backs or sides as well? 

The backs of the Rapid Ride’s will be available for advertising.  ABQ RIDE is open to 
the idea of advertising on other portions of the Rapid Ride buses.  The potential 
contractor can put this in their proposal. 

 
51.  Will the City consider leaving the advertising frames on the older diesel buses (100 
& 200 series)?  And also, some of the frames on the 300 series, like the mini tail and king 
frames? 

ABQ RIDE will be ordering approximately 35 new buses to replace about 35 of 
the 100 and 200 series buses.  This will leave approximately 20, 100 or 200 series 
buses in the fleet.  ABQ RIDE will consider leaving the frames on those 20 buses, 
but all other vehicles will have just vinyl advertising.  ABQ RIDE does not plan 
to leave the frames on the 300 series buses. 

 
52. Pg 11, 2.6 ‘Projected gross revenues’- Why are agency commissions included in 
projections for gross sales when(if billing agency or 3rd party media buyer) commissions 
are already configured in actual net billing.    

ABQ RIDE will consider gross sales projections without agency commissions if it is 
already configured in the net billing. 
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